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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STFS.TE 0|= WASHING C_)N No. 84382-6-|
Respondent DIVISION ONE
' NICETO AMOR CANETE, UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Appellant.

SMITH, C.J. — In August 2017, S.W. informed her mother that Niceto

_Ganete, her stepfather, had repeatedly molested her. Canete was later charged

wnth one count of child molestatlon in the first degree and one count of child rape
in the second degree. Although charged in 2017, Canete’s trial did not begin
until March 2022. Despite this delay, Canete did not interview N.C., S.W.’s
younger sister, before trial began. N.C. did not testify and Canete was convicted
on both counts. On appeal Canete raises a variety of issues. He contends that
the trial court erred by (1) excluding N.C.’s testimony in violation of his right to
compel witnesses and (2) improperly commenting on the evidence by providing a
no-corroboration jury instruction. He also asserts that the State interfered with
his ability to interview N.C. in violation of his right to counsel and that his counsel
was ineffective in failing to interview N.C. before trial. In addition, Canete argues

that the prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly speculating as to

Canete’s first-person thought process and misstating the burden of proof in
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closing arguments. Finally, he asserts cumulative error. Finding his arguments
without merit, we affirm.
FACTS

Niceto Canete was married to Katherine Romero, S.W.’s mother, from
June 2006 to August 2017. Romero had two children prior to the marriage, S.W.
and D.R., and Canete and Romero had two children together. Canete, Romero,
S.W., and her two younger sisters, N.C. and B.C,, lived together in Whatcom
County.

Canete was a strict stepfather, who punished S.W. by grounding her,
pinching her or hitting her with a yardstick. S.W. did not like having him in the
home.

While living together, Canete sometimes woke S.W. up by sitting beside
her on her bed. S.W. recalled on one occasion, when she was 11 or 12 years
old, that Canete woke her up by putting his hands in her pants, touching her
bottom and digitally penetrating her vagina. He stopped when she moved.

Another time, after N.C. told Canete that S.W. had an iPod" she was not
supposed to have, Canete sent S.W. to her room as punishment. Later that
evening, Canete entered her room while she was sleeping and digitally
penetrated her. When S.W. flinched, Canete stopped, rubbed her face to put her
back to sleep and left the room. S.W. eventually moved to the living room,

waiting for her mother to come home.

T AniPod is a pocket-sized device used to play music files.
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When Romero arrived, S.W. waited until Canete left the room and told her
mother what he had done. Romero sent S.W. to her bedroom, asking her to lock
the door, before confronting Canete. Romero ended the relationship and ordered
Canete out of the house. A month later, S.W. disclosed the assault to a school
counselor who, as a mandatory reporter, informed law enforcement.

In August 2017, the State charged Niceto Canete with one count of child
molestation in the first degree and one count of child rape in the second degree.

Pre-Trial Motions

Although Canete was charged in 2017, his trial did not begin until five
years later, in March 2022. The same attorney represented Canete from filing
through trial. In the five years prior to trial, Canete’s attorney completed some
defense interviews in 2018, some more before the omnibus hearing in 2022, and
some the week prior to trial. Canete’s attorney did not indicate the need for any
additional discovery. Both parties confirmed the case was ready for trial.

The week before trial, Canete’s attorney interviewed E.H., a friend of S.W.
to whom S.W. had disclosed the abuse. In this interview, E.H. recounted her
own experience with Canete, which was similar to SW.’s. The morning of the
trial, the State moved to admit E.H.’s testimony under ER 404(b). Canete
objected, arguing that the introduction of evidence was untimely. The court
noted that it was a close call but agreed that the request was untimely and
denied the ER 404(b) motion.

Following denial of the motion, Canete sought an order allowing him to

amend his witness list and depose N.C. Defense counsel sought an interview
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with N.C. because she was present in the home the day of the second incident
and could potentially provide relevant information. Neither the State nor defense
counsel had N.C. on their witness list. Law enforcement never interviewed her.

In the several months leading up to trial, defense counsel sent five e-mails
to the State concerning N.C.’s testimony. The first four e-mails discussed
defense counsel’s need to interview S.W.'s siblings. They did not specify N.C. in
particular and did not explicitly request the State’s help in facilitating the
interviews. The fifth e-mail, sent a week before trial, specifically listed N.C. and
stated that defensg counsel had been seeking to interview the siblings for three
years.

As N.C. was a minor, defense counsel asserted that all of the e-mails
were requests for the State to help facilitate the interview. The State argued that
they did not understand that Canete was seeking assistance to interview N.C.
until the last e-mail, sent six days before trial began. Two days after the last
e-mail, the State informed Canete that N.C.’s mother would not agree to an
interview.

The court denied defense counsel’'s motion to amend the witness list and
depose N.C., stating that the request to call N.C. as a withess was untimely,
rendering compelling a deposition unnecessary.

Trial

Following S.W.’s testimony at trial, the State moved to amend the

information to charge Canete with child molestation in the second degree instead

of in the first degree. Defense counsel did not object.
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Prior to closing, the court heard arguments on the parties’ proposed jury
instructions. The State proposed a no-corroboration instruction, reasoning that it
was not necessary for the alleged victim’s testimony to be corroborated in order
for the jury to convict Canete. Defense counsel objected, arguing that the
no-corroboration instruction constituted improper judicial comment on the
evidence. The court proceeded with the instruction over the objection, noting
that the instruction was a correct statement of the law.

During closing, the State made a few generalized statements about child
sex abuse survivors and steted that its burden was to prove the case beyond a
reasonable doubt as to the “material elements.” The prosecutor also argued, in
the first-person, what he suggested to be Canete’s possible thought process
while allegedly committing the crimes. Defense counsel did not object to any of
these statements in closing.

Following jury deliberations, Canete was convicted of child molestation in
the second degree and rape of a child in the second degree. The court imposed
a standard range of 36 months for child molestation in the second degree and a
minimum of 119 months for rape of a child in the second degree. Canete
appeals.

ANALYSIS

Right to Present a Defense, to Compel Witnesses, and to Counsel

Canete asserts that the trial court violated his constitutional right to
present a defense and compel witnesses when it denied his motion to amend his

witness list and depose N.C. Canete also argues that the State violated his right
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to counsel by denying him the opportunity to interview N.C. We conclude that
Canete’s rights were not violated both because he failed to establish that N.C.’s
testimony would be material and favorable to the defense and because he had
ample time to interview N.C. and failed to do so.

Whether a defendant’s Sixth Amendment right has been violated presents

a legal question that we review de novo. State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 797,

453 P.3d 696 (2019). And we review the trial court’s evidentiary rulings for an
abuse of discretion. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 797. The trial court abuses its
discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable

grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Hampton, 184 Wn.2d 656, 670, 361

P.3d 734 (2015).
The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article |,
Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution provide a criminal defendant

with the right to present a defense. State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 63, 502

P.3d 1255 (2022). This includes the right to compel withesses at trial. State v.
Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). “This right is a fundamental

element of due process.” Taylor v. lllinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410, 109 S. Ct. 646, 98

L. Ed. 2d 798, (1988). But this right is not absolute. State v. McCabe, 161 Wn.

App. 781, 787, 251 P.3d 264 (2011). For example, defendants can only compel

witnesses who are material to the defense and who offer relevant testimony.

State v. Smith, 101 Wn.2d 36, 41, 677 P.2d 100 (1984). The defendant has the
burden of showing materiality, Smith, 101 Wn. 2d at 41, and relevant evidence is

evidence “having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of
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consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable
than it would be without the evidence.” ER 401.

More than the mere lack of testimony is necessary to establish a violation
of the right. State v. Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. 530, 552, 364 P.3d 810 (2015). To
create such a violation, state conduct must impermissibly interfere with a
defendant’s ability to present a defense and that interference must cause the loss

of material evidence, favorable to the defendant. McCabe, 161 Wn. App. at 787.

Canete asserts that the court’s denial of his motion to depose N.C. and
amend his witness list violated his right to compel witnesses. Because Canete
fails to establish that N.C.’s testimony is material, relevant or favorable, the trial
court did not violate his right in denying his motion to amend his witness list. The
court’s denial of Canete’s motion to depose N.C. then flowed from the fact that
she would not be allowed to testify. As the ability to depose a witness is simply a
discovery issue, denying the request to depose a witness cannot by itself violate

Canete’s right to present a defense. See, e.q. State v. Mankin, 158 Wn. App.

111, 121, 241 P.3d 421 (2010) (noting that a criminal defendant is not, as a
matter of right, entitled to depose prospective witnesses); CR 26 (depositions are
governed by the rules of discovery).

Canete concedes that “it is difficult to determine the precise impact of
N.C.’s testimony on the evidence at trial because she was never interviewed.”?

Such an interview, he continues, “may have produced evidence critical to the

2 N.C. did take part in a forensic interview with Gail Tierney, a Child
Forensic Interviewer from the Brigid Collins House in Whatcom County. She did
not speak with the State or Defense Counsel.
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defense.” (Emphasis added.) Even in his briefing, Canete admits that it is only
“possible that N.C.’s testimony would have had a tremendous impact on the
defense's case.” (Emphasis added.) Canete cannot speak to what N.C.’s
testimony might be because N.C. was never interviewed by counsel or law
enforcement. The only information Canete presents is his supposition as to what
she saw and might say. He could not even provide hearsay statements about
the likely testimony. And because he cannot speak to what N.C.’s testimony
might be, Canete fails to establish materiality, relevance, or favorability. The
court did not violate Canete’s right to compel witnesses.

Canete also asserts that his right to counsel was violated because he was
unable to interview N.C. This violation, he argues, arose from the State’s refusal
to facilitate an interview;;/vhich then prevented him from interviewing N.C. béfore
trial. But Canete mischaracterizes his efforts to interview N.C.

Defense counsef’s purported reason for not interviewing N.C. on his own
was that it was common practice for the State to help facilitate interviews with
children. Over the course of the six months leading up to trial, defense counsel
sent five e-mails to the State. Each e-mail noted that defense counsel had yet to
interview S.W.’s siblings. But contrary to Canete’s assertions, none of the
e-mails actually ask the State for help in facilitating the interviews. In fact, it is
not until the fifth e-mail that defense counsel even mentions N.C. by nhame. Even

then, the e-mail only states, “| have been seeking to interview [S.W.’s] siblings for
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about 3 years.”® And when Canete made clear that he wanted help facilitating
the interviews, the State responded within two days. The record does not
demonstrate that the State interfered with Canete’s ability to interview N.C.
Without state interference, Canete fails to establish a violation of his right to
counsel.

Neither the court nor the State violated Canete’s right to present a
defense, right to compel witnesses, or right to counsel.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Canete next argues that defense counsel’s failure to interview N.C. in the
five years prior to trial constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Because
Canete does not establish that the outcome of the trial would have been different,
we conclude that defense counsel's actions do not constitute ineffective
assistance of counsel.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are “mixed questions of law and

fact” that we review de novo. Inre Pers. Restraint of Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853,

865, 16 P.3d 610 (2001).
To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show
that counsel's performance was deficient and that the defendant was prejudiced

by that deficient performance. In re Pers. Restraint of Crace, 174 Wn.2d 835,

840, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012). To establish deficient performance, the defendant

must show that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of

3 The record before us does not show any further evidence that defense
counsel had actually sought these interviews for three years.
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reasonableness. State v. Goldberg, 123 Wn. App. 848, 852, 99 P.3d 924 (2004).

This includes failing to interview witnesses and giving no reason for doing so.

State v. Jones, 183 Wn.2d 327, 352 P.3d 776 (2015). “ ‘To establish prejudice, a
defendant must show that but for counsel's performance, the result would have

been different.”” Goldberg, 123 Wn. App. At 852 (quoting State v. McNeal, 145

Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002)).

It is the defendant’s burden to overcome the “ ‘strong presumption’ ” that

counsel’s representation was effective. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 337,

899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (quoting State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d

816 (1987)). “If trial counsel’'s conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial
strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant
received ineffective assistance of counsel.’ ” Goldberg, 123 Wn. App. At 852

(quoting McNeal, 145 Wn.2d at 362).

Canete contends that counsel's performance was deficient in failing to
interview N.C. in the five years preceding trial. We agree.

In arguing that the State violated his right to present a defense, both
Canete and the State point to five e-mails that indicate defense counsel's intent
to interview N.C. While defense counsel's assertion that it is common practice
for the State to arrange interviews with minors may be true, his e-mails to the
State span only the six months leading up to trial and do not specifically ask for
the State’s help. Defense counsel had four and a half years before that to

interview N.C. The State concedes that defense counsel “willfully failed to take

10
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timely steps to interview N.C.” Defense counsel had five years in which to
interview N.C. and confirmed the case for trial, not having done so.

Jones is instructive here. Failing to interview a witness without real
reason, rather than out of strategy, constitutes deficient performance. Jones,
183 Wn.2d at 340. Canete asserts that, as N.C. was in the home the evening of
the second incident, she could have been able to testify as to whether Canete
ever entered S.W.’s room. Defense counsel knew from the beginning of the case
that N.C. was in the home, and given that the police did not interview her, the
only way to find out what she knew would be to interview her himself. Defense
counsel failed to do so. Defense counsel’s conduct is analogous to Jones: in
failingto interview N.C., rather than making the strategic decision not to, defense
counsel’s performance was deficient.

Although we agree that counsel’s performance was deficient, we conclude
that Canete fails to demonstrate that deficiency caused prejudice. Canete
concedes that “it is difficult to determine the precise impact of N.C.’s testimony
on the evidence at trial because she was never interviewed.” Such an interview,
Canete continues, “may have produced evidence critical to the defense.”
(Emphasis added.) As N.C. was never interviewed by the State, defense
counsel or law enforcement, we do not know what she may or may not have
testified to. And the possibility of unknown testimony, along with Canete’s
supposition as to what she might say, is not enough to establish that, but for

counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been

11
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different. Without providing any evidence establishing that the outcome of the
trial would have been different, Canete cannot establish prejudice.

Defense counsel’s actions did not constitute ineffective assistance of
counsel.

Jury Instruction

Canete contends that the court made an improper judicial comment on the
+ evidence by giving a no-corroboration instruction. We disagree.
“Whether a jury instruction is legally correct is reviewed de novo.” State v.

Chenoweth, 188 Wn. App. 521, 535, 354 P.3d 13 (2015). A challenge to jury

instructions is reviewed in the context of all instructions given. State v. Pirtle, 127

Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995).

Article 1V, section 16 of the Washington State Constitution provides,
“Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment
thereon, but shall declare the law.” A trial judge improperly comments on the
evidence if it gives a jury instruction that conveys to the jury their personal
attitudes toward the merits of the case. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132
P.3d 1076 (2006). On the other hand, a jury instruction that does no more than
accurately state the applicable law does not constitute an impermissible

comment on the evidence. State v. Brush, 183 Wn.2d 550, 557, 353 P.3d 213

(2015).

12
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RCW 9A.44.020(1)* provides “[i]n order to convict a person of any crime
defined in this chapter it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged
victim be corroborated.” Washington courts have consistently upheld no-
corroboration instructions as correct statements of law under RCW 9A.44.020(1)
when the instruction is given in reference to an alleged victim’s testimony in sex

offense cases. See, e.q., Chenoweth, 188 Wn. App. At 537 (holding that

corroboration is not required in sex offenses); State v. Zimmerman, 130 Wn. App.

170, 182-83, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005) (holding that a no-corroboration instruction is
not reversible error).

While instructing the jury, the court stated that “in order to convict a person
of child molestation in the second degree or rape of a child in the second degree,
it is not necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated.”
(Capitalization omitted.) This is an accurate statement of the law and therefore
the instruction does not constitute an impermissible comment on the evidence.®

Prosecutorial Misconduct

Canete raises three instances of prosecutorial misconduct, arguing that
the prosecutor (1) improperly appealed to the passions and the prejudices of the
jury by arguing generalizations about all child sex cases, (2) argued Canete’s

first-person thought process based purely on speculation and not on facts in

4 The chapter includes both rape of a child in the second degree and child
molestation in the second degree, the charges at issue. RCW 9A.44.076, .086.

5 Canete’s counsel acknowledged the accuracy of this jury instruction
during closing arguments (“[T]he State is correct and it’s a correct statement of
the law that testimony is evidence, and corroboration is not required.”).

4

13
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evidence, and (3) misstated the burden of proof. As Canete does not
demonstrate a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor’s statements prejudicially
affected the jury's verdict or that any potential prejudice could not have been
fixed by a curative instruction below, we conclude that the prosecutor’s actions
-did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must
establish that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State
v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). To establish prejudice, the
defendant must show a substantial likelihood that the error affected the jury

verdict. State v. Molina, 16 Wn. App. 2d 908, 918, 485 P.3d 963 (2021). Where

a defendant does not object at trial, he is deemed to have waived any error
unless the prosecutor’s misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an
instruction could not have cured any resulting prejudice. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at
760. Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) no
curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury, and
(2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of

affecting the jury. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).

Counsel’s decision not to object or to request a curative instruction “strongly
suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear

critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of trial.” State v. Swan, 114

Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).
We review claims of prosecutorial misconduct for an abuse of discretion,

viewing the allegedly improper statements within the context of the entire case.

14
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Molina, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 918. Here, Canete did not object to any of the three

instances of alleged misconduct and therefore his claims are subject to a
heightened standard of proof.

Canete first asserts that the prosecutor improperly appealed to the
passions and prejudices of the jury by arguing generalizations about all child sex
cases. But Canete fails to establish misconduct or prejudice. The prosecutor
made two statements referencing child sex abuse survivors broadly. He stated
first, “[S.W.] is a survivor of child sex abuse, and survivors of child sex abuse
have no witnesses.” A few minutes later he continued, “[c]hild sex abuse
survivors have to find their voices.” These statements, Canete argues, asked the
jury to convict Canete “on behalf of all ‘survivors’ in ‘child sex abuse cases’”
rather than the facts of the case.

However, allegedly improper statements should be considered in the

context of the prosecutor’s entire argument. Molina, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 918. The

prosecutor made these two comments, in passing, in the context of discussing
details specific to this case. When viewed in the context of the prosecutor’s
entire closing argument, these statements were unlikely to result in substantial
prejudice and any resulting prejudice could have been fixed by a curative
instruction.

Canete next asserts that the prosecutor committed misconduct in arguing
Canete’s first-person thought process based purely on speculation and not on
facts in evidence. The State concedes that this reference to Canete’s first-

person thought process was improper. We agree. However, the prosecutor’s

15
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statements here were limited in scope and tied closely to S.W.’s testimony and to
Canete’s behavior. While the prosecutor’s statements of “lhJow far can 1 go?. . .
[hlow far can | get with this? . . . [c]an | go a little further?” were improper, they
were not the focus of the State’s argument. Furthermore, those three statements
were a small part of the entire closing argument. Simply pointing them out is not
enough to establish that the misconduct had a substantial likelihood of affecting
the jury.

Lastly, Canete argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by
misstating the burden of proof. Again, allegedly improper statements should be

considered in the context of the prosecutor’s entire argument. Molina, 16 Wn.

App. 2d at 918. The prosecutor did misstate the burden of proof once, stating
“[w]hat’s important about that is that we have to prove our case beyond a
reasonable doubt as to material elements of the charge okay? . . . [B]ut we don’t
have to prove everything about the case beyond a reasonable doubt.” But he
later stated the correct burden of proof, noting that “[nJow, to convict the
defendant of child molestation in the second degree, the following elements must
be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, this is what I'm referring to.”
(Capitalization omitted.) He then listed each element as it 6onnected to the facts
of the case. He did the same for the charge of rape of a child in the second
degree. Additionally, both the court and defense counsel stated the correct
burden of proof. Viewed within the context of the entire closing argument, the
misstatement was unlikely to result in substantial prejudice and any resulting

prejudice could have been easily remedied by a curative instruction.

16
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The prosecutor’s actions did not result in prosecutorial misconduct.

Cumulative Error

Canete argues that if we are not satisfied that any of the previously
discussed errors alone are enough to warrant reversal, the combined effects
denied Canete a fair trial under the cumulative error doctrine. As there is little
error, the combined effect is not enough to warrant a reversal.

The cumulative error doctrine applies when “several trial errors standing
. . . alone may not be sufficient to justify reversal but when combined may deny a

defendant a fair trial.” State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000).

“The test to determine whether cumulative errors require reversal of a
defendant’s conviction is whether the totality of circumstances substantially

prejudiced the defendant and denied [them] a fair trial.” |In re Pers. Restraint of

Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 690, 327 P.3d 660 (2014) (abrogated on other grounds

by State v. Gregory, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018)). The defendant bears

the burden of proving cumulative error. In re Pers Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d

296, 332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994).

Here, there are only two established trial errors. The first is defense
counsel’s failure to interview N.C. The second is the prosecutor’s improper
speculation into Canete’s first-person thought process. In both instances,
however, Canete has failed to prove any prejudice. Because reversal under the
cumulative error doctrine requires circumstances that substantially prejudiced the

defendant and Canete has failed to show prejudice, reversal is not warranted.

17
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The combined effects do not warrant a reversal under the cumulative error

doctrine.
We affirm.
AM
WE CONCUR: - r [7

2

Jﬂum, J.
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L ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Mr. Canete’s rights to compel witnesses and to counsel
were violated when he was prevented from interviewing a
key witness and amending the defense witness list prior to
trial.

Mr. Canete’s right to effective assistance of counsel was
violated when counsel failed to interview a key witness in
the five years the case was pending prior to trial.

Mr. Canete’s right to due process was violated when the
court improperly commented on the evidence during trial
by instructing the jury that no corroboration of the alleged
victim’s testimony was required for conviction.

Mr. Canete’s right to a fair trial was violated when the
prosecutor committed misconduct during closing
argument by generalizing child sex cases, stepping into the

shoes of Mr. Canete, and misstating the burden of proof.



Cumulative error deprived Mr. Canete of his due process
right to a fair trial.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS
OF ERROR

Whether Mr. Canete’s rights to compel witnesses and to
counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States
Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington
Constitution were violated when the trial court denied Mr.
Canete’s motion to amend the witness list and depose a
key witness, and the prosecutor’s actions prevented
defense counsel from interviewing the witness?

Whether Mr. Canete’s right to effective assistance of
counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States
Constitution and Article 1 Section 22 of the Washington
Constitution was violated when defense counsel failed to
interview a key witness in the five years the case was

pending prior to trial?



'
-

3. Whether the trial court violated Article TV Section 16 of
the Washington Constitution when it instructed the jury
that the alleged victim’s testimony need not be
corroborated for conviction?

4, Whether Mr. Canete’s right to a fair trial was violated
when the prosecutor inflamed the passions and prejudices
of the jury and argued facts not in evidence during closing
argument?

5. Whether cumulative error deprived Mr. Canete of his due
process right to a fair trial?

IIi. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
On August 9, 2017, the State charged Niceto Canete in the

Whatcom County Superior Court with one count of child

molestation in the first degree and one count of rape of a child in

the second degree based upon alleged acts of sexual abuse
involving his stepdaughter, S.W. CP 1 — 2. The State alleged

that the offense in count one occurred on or about the 13™ day of



July, 2015 through the 12% day of July, 2016 and that the offense
alleged in count two occurred on May 12, 2017. CP 1 - 2.

Mr. Canete was married to Katherine Romero from June
2006 to August 2017. RP 379, 380. When they married, Ms.
Romero had two children from a previous relationship, D.R. and
S.W. RP 380. Mr. Canete and Ms. Romero then had two
children of their own together, N.C. and BC RP 380. The
family of six lived together at a house on Goshen Road in
Bellingham, Washington. RP 148. The charges in this case stem
from allegations made by Mr. Canete’s nonbiological
stepdaughter, S.W., on two occasions. CP 1 — 2.

S.W. alleged that on one occasion when she was around
11 or 12 years old, Mr. Canete woke her up in the morning by
sticking his hand in her pants. RP 185 — 87. Additionally, S.W,
alleged that another incident occurred on May 12, 2017. RP 157.
On that day, S.W. alleged that Mr. Canete made her go to her
bedroom after he discovered an iPod in her backpack, which she

was not supposed to have because she was grounded. RP 215,



S.W. alleged that Mr. Canete later entered her room while she
was sleeping and digitally penetrated her vagina. RP 158. That
day, Ms. Romero, S.W.’s mother, ordered Mr. Canete to leave
the home. RP 386.

Although Mr. Canete was charged in this matter in 2017,
his trial did not begin until approximately five years later, on
March 21, 2022. RP 6. Mr. Canete was represented at trial by
the same attorney who had represented Mr. Canete since the case
was filed in 2017. RP 6, 87. The trial lasted seven days and
included the introduction of testimony from numerous witnesses,
including Mr, Canete. RP 6 — 11.

In preparation for trial, defense counsel worked with the
State to interview the potential witnesses for the case. In
particular, defense counsel requested to interview N.C., S.W.’s
younger half-sister. RP 81. Defense counsel wanted to interview
N.C. because she was present in the home on May 12, 2017,
when the alleged incident underlying the rape charge occurred.

RP 655. In particular, N.C. was the one who informed Mr.



Canete that S.W. had an iPod in her backpack, which S.W. was
not supposed to have while she was grounded and led to S.W.
being sent to her room. RP 656. Defense counsel believed that
N.C. could provide relevant and potentially crucial information
about what happened on May 12, 2017. RP 81. A forensic
interview of N.C. was included in discovery provided to the
defense. RP 84,

Defense counsel asked the State to assist in facilitating an
interview with N.C. because N.C. was a minor, and her mother,
Katherine Romero, is also S.W.’s mother. RP 82. Defense
counsel informed the State of its request to interview N.C. on
several occasions. CP 47 — 49. Despite defense counsel’s
numerous requests, and as the trial date approached, the State
never responded to defense counsel’s request to interview N.C.
CP 47 — 49. It was not until the week prior to trial, after the
parties had confirmed that they were ready for trial, that the State
finally informed defense counsel that Ms. Romero, N.C.’s

mother, would not agree to a defense interview of N.C. RP 82.



Defense counsel was thus left with only one mechanism
for interviewing N.C., and on March 22, 2022, filed a motion to
depose N.C. under CrR 4.6 and to add N.C. to the defense
witness list. CP 40 — 49. The trial court heard the motion the
morning of March 22, 2022. RP 80. Defense counsel argued
that it is normal practice to request an interview of a child witness
who is more available to the State be facilitated through the State,
that he had been continuously asking the State to interview N.C.
for months, and that the State had not let defense counsel know
that the witness would not be made available until the week
before trial. RP 88.

Defense counsel explained that having worked in
Whatcom County for some time and having developed a
relationship with the prosecutor’s office, he believed that the best
way to interview N.C. would be through the State:

... we have a relationship in this case.
A small town, we know each other,
and my experience as I indicated that

Mr. Cockern pointed out, if I want to
interview a child of, of a sibling of the



victim in this case, a child of the
household, the right thing to do is to
go through the state.

RP 88. Defense counsel further explained his frustration with
the State’s behavior to the court:

When I finally confronted him during
the interview last week . . ., I said when
‘are we going to do these interviews
with these siblings, and that’s when he
finally told me that the mother,
Katherine, was not in support of that,
and she was not going to allow that,
and so the State was not going to
facilitate that. So literally, I’ve been
asking to interview these witnesses for
months. My experience with Mr.
Corkern is he’s pretty straightforward,
and he doesn’t hide the ball, but in this
case, I can’t help but feeling that he’s
done that,

RP 82. Had the State communicated its position to defense
counsel earlier, defense counsel argued that he would have filed
the CrR 4.6 motion much sooner than the day of trial. RP 83.
Additionally, defense counsel argued that counsel for the
State was aware for months before trial that defense wanted to

interview N.C. and that defense counsel agreed to state they



were ready for trial although the parties still had several
interviews to complete given the age of the case. RP 90. In
fact, many of the witness interviews were not conducted until
the week before trial in this case, after the parties had confirmed
for trial on February 23, 2022. RP 90.

In response, the State did not deny that it knew defense
counsel wanted to interview N.C., but argued that because N.C.
~ was not listed on the State’s witness list, the State had no
obligation to facilitate an interview with N.C. RP 86.

The trial court acknowledged that it was a difficult
situation given the witness was a child witness available to the

State:

I appreciate that it’s difficult when it’s
a child witness, and you know, you
try to go through the state, and I think
the state wants you to try to go
through them to arrange an interview
like that, rather than trying to do it
without them there. So I do appreciate
that it is a difficult position to be in . .

RP 86.



However, the court nltimately denied the defense motion =~ i i

to depose N.C. and add her to the defense witness list. RP 92.. SRR TR P
The trial court reasoned that it was too late in the process for -~ 1 .
defense coungelio armend iis wittiess list and that mfm&@ copnsel «doad ey

sbould have added N.C. to itg Ut dnd asked for depokitlon atam+ > € 1 its b ay
earlier date, particularly prior to the p&mw confiaring forteal. 0 o o o il
RP 86. Defense counssl admitted that he shoulddiave mads iy - - 00 oo ol
CrR 4.6 reguest sooner in the case, since thelbasethaddeen v 1 v o
pending for slmost five years, stating, “Should [ have done things . 7 v w1

differently? Yes, I think everything in this case conld have been

done differently.” RF 89. As a result, M. was ‘never.
interviewed by the defense and did not testify at trial, -~ .- -

During its case in chief, the State presented the testimony
of several witnesses, including S.W ., Katherine Romero, various
CPS workers, a forensic interviewer, S.W.’s school counselor,
Detective Ken Gates, and two of S.W.’s cousins. RP 145. After -

the State presented its case in chief but before resting, the State

1@ ot



moved to amend the information to charge Mr. Canete with child
molestatlon n the second degree instead of the first degree, also

arnendlng the chargmg date period due to testimony from S. W,

about her age at the time of alleged incident. RP 644.
Btk ihaldborr o, e o
During the defense case in chief, Mr. Canete testified on
'.-l Uf)n\. 1 tﬁr u P Sriioen ul o
his own behalf, denying all allegations. RP 652 The defense
PR R AT ANG L
also called Detective Ken Gates during its case in chief; to testify
AT N Y \‘ froon made b
to prior consistent statements made by Mr. Canete during his pre-
sonire e e ead b
arrest interview in this case, RP 774,
) \t“!“Hl; E '1."’-’-' h ;f:f_r\:.- ':v.t‘
On March 30, 2022, the trial court heard argument on the

partles proposed jury instructions. RP 710. The defense
submltted two objections to the State’s proposed instructions.
iThe defense’s first objection was that instruction 13, a limiting
inetruetion, should have been given at the time the testimony was
heafd .rather than at the conclusion of the testimony. RP 710,
Defense counsel’s second objection was to instruction number 9,

which prov1ded that “In order to convict a person of Child

Molestatlon in the Second Degree or Rape of a Child in the

11



Second Degree, it is not necessary that the testimony of the
alleged victim be corroborated.” CP 67.

Defense counsel argued that the no-corroboration
instruction was not necessary because there is no Washington
Pattern Jury Instruction (WPIC) on the issue and that the
instrustion constituted a judicial comment on the evidence. RP
718. The Staite argued that because the trial court has given the
same instruction in a past case, and that the past case had not
been appealéd on that issue, the court should allow the
instruction in this case. RP 719. The trial court and the State
proceeded to discuss a past case in which they were both
involved, but Mr. Canete’s defense attorney was not involved.
RP 719. While acknowledging that “Mr. Brodsky wasn’t here
for that case, so it’s a bit unfair —,” the court heard the State’s
argument as to why they believed the instruction was proper in
past cases, and in this case. RP 719.

Defense counsel countered the State’s argument, arguing

that the no-corroboration instruction coming from the court,

12



rather than from the State as argument, is an improper commennt
on the evidence. RP 722 — 23. S}pe@iﬁcally, the defense argued

that: “The State seems to want to be relieved of having to argue

this to the jury, The State can ceriainly argue this o the jury, but. -+

when they hear it from the eourt, 1t is 4 comment o the evidence 1« .« b oo o

here.,” RP 722. After hearing argument, the court decidédie give oo

the no-corroboration instruction, stating that tHe court is fiot -«

bound by the WPICs and that the instruction seemedido be av'

correct statement of the law, RP 723, N ORI PO Dby

During its closing argument, the State argued it had et

its burden of proof on both charges through the testimony of .
S.W. RP 825. The State additionally made several arguments
‘generalizing proof issues in child sex cases:

She is a survivor of child sex abuse,

and survivors of child sex abuse have

no witnesses. They have to tell their

story. They have to find the courage

and the voice to tell their story because

there are no witnesses.

RP 811. The prosecutor continued to argue:

13
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Child sex abuse victims don’t have a
— they have to do it on their own.

RP 827. In rebuttal, counsel again stated:

[t’s a child sex case. In a child sex
case, we don’t have witnesses. In a

child sex case, we didn’t have DNA.

B

the crimes charged, the prosecutor argued what he thought to be

the first-person

!

thought process of Mr. Canete while allegedly

committing the crimes:

e bETy
-~

ca et

He comes into the room, lays in her

-'bed, lays next to her, probably just

feeling it out. He lays there. She is

- not awake. How far can I go? That’s

what he’s done before, right? . . . He’s
feeling it out. Is she awake? How far
can I get with this? Is she going to
respond? Can I go a little further?

It’s what he did before. How far can I
get? How far can I go? Guess what?
You put your fingers in her vagina,
it’s too far.

14



RP 815 - 16.

In its closing argument, defense counsel argued that the
State had not met their burden of proof on either count. RP 846.
Specifically, the defense argued that S.W. did not like Mr.
Canete’s parenting, and as a result, did anything she could to get
him out of the house, including fabricating the allegations against
him. RP 834, Defensé counsel additionally argued that the case
was not adequately investigated, because several witnesses were
not intefviewed by Detective Gates. RP 830.

On March 31, 2022, the jury began deliberating. RP 856.
The jur;} ultimately convicted Mr. Canete on both counts. RP
856 — 57.

Mr. Canete’s sentencing took place on August 9,2022. RP
803. The State recommended that the court sentence Mr. Canete
to the high end of the standard range for both counts, while the
defense recommended that the court sentence Mr. Canete to the
low end of the standard range on both counts. RP 863, 871. The

court ultimately sentenced Mr. Canete to a sentence in the middle

15



of the standard range on both counts, 36 months of confinernent
on-the child molestation count and an indeterminate sentence of -~ . o
119 months to life on the rape of a child in the second degree. . oy

count. CP 115, Mr. Canete timely appealed his conviction, CP

125--36. PAN A
V. ARGUMENT N LA R )

Compel Witnesses and fis Right tp Counsel wham3bi 5 ooy e B
Denied his Motion 1o Amend the Defense Witnéssy - 3
List and tc Depose B.C, Plueumu o £

vy

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Comstitution: - ' oo i fie
and Article I, section 22 of the Washingmn State Chustitoion .« " o, 1
guamm:ee accused persons in criminal cases the right o compel « <. . 0
witnesses on their own behalf and the right fo -counsel.
Additionally, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment guarantees that an accused person has a meaningful

opportunity to present a complete defense. Holmes v. South

Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 64 L. Ed. 2d 503, 126 S. Ct. 1727

(2006).

16



1. -+ . Mr, Canete’s right to compel witnesses was violated

when his request to amend the witness list and to

RTINS - on.depose N.C was denied and he was prevented from
interviewing N.C.

A defendant’s right to compulsory process includes the
}\‘;‘ R RS

right to interview witnesses necessary to his or her defense prior

to trial. State v. Burri, 87 Wn.2d 175, 550 P.2d 507 (1976).

The United States Supreme Court made clear that:
ot Toahs et
«i«iThe tright to offer testimony of
coid watnesses, and to  compel their
attendance, if necessary, is in plain
terms the right to present a defense . . .
el . Justras an accused has the right to
confront the prosecution’s witnesses
BTRN TR - i for the purpose of challenging their
testimony, he has the right to present
SIEE t+ - ~hisown. witnesses to establish a
defense. This right is a fundamental
e - clement of due process of law.

Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019, 87 S.
Ct. 1920 (1967). |

“[C]ﬁminal defendants have the right to the government’s
assistance in competling the attendance of favorable witnesses at

4

trial.” Penﬁsvlvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 4 L. Ed. 2d 40,

107 S. Ct. 989 (1987). Courts have held, however, that a

17



defendant’s right to compel witness is not absolute: “The
Compulsory Process Clause cannot be invoked without the prior
planning and affirmative conduct of the defendant . . . The burden
of identifying them in advance of trial adds little to these routine

demands of trial preparation.” See Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S.

400, 415,98 L. Ed. 2d 798, 108 S. Ct. 646 (1988). For example,
CiR 4.7 requires parties to submit witness lists to opposing
counsel “no later than the omnibus hearing.”

A court’s decision to exclude evidence at trial is reviewed

for an abuse of discretion. State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 762

(2007).

In Taylor v. Illinois, the United States Supreme Court

examined whether the trial court’s exclusion of a defense witness
as a remedy for the defense’s late disclosure of the witness
constituted a Sixth Amendment violation of the right to compel
witnesses. 484 U.S. 400 (1988). In that case, the defendant made
a motion to “amend discovery” on the second day of trial, after

two State witnesses had already testified, to add a witness to its

18



witness list. Id. at 404. After the defense made an offex of proof
about what the witness would testify to and the court briefly
examined the witness, the triai court stated that it had a “great
deal of doubt” about the truthfulness of the witness’s testimony.
and also found that the defense’s violation of the discovery rules -
was “willful” considering that defense counsel had.contacted and

interviewed the witness the week prior to trial without informing

the state. Id. at 405. For these reasons, the trial conrt denied the -

defense’s request, excluding the witness’s iestimony. Id. The
defendant apbealed, arguing thut exclusion of the witness
altogether was too harsh of a penalty and violated his Sixth
Amendment right to compel witnesses. Id. at 406. The Supreme
Court held that exclusion of the witness testimony altogether
under these particular circumstances did not. violate the
defendant;s Sixth Amendment right to compel witnesses. [d. at
417.

Under Washington law, a failure to produce evidence or

identify witnesses in a timely manner is appropriately remedied .



by continuing trial to give the nonviolating party time to

interview the witness or prepare to address the evidence. State

- v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 881, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998).

- Excluding evidence altogether is an “extraordinary remedy” that

- should be applied narrowly. State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App.

+ 507,521, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). A court deciding whether to

exclude evidence must consider (1) the effectiveness of less

- severe. sanctions, (2) the impact of witness preclusion on the

- evidence at trial and the outcome of the case; (3) the extent to

- which the witness’s testimony will surprise or prejudice the other

party, and (4) whether the violation was willful or in bad faith.
- ‘Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at 883.

In Hutchinson, the Washington Supreme Court upheld the

“trial court’s decision to exclude the defense’s expert witnesses

relating to a diminished capacity defense at trial. Id. The Court

held that the above four factors weighed in favor of exclusion of

‘the witnesses. Id. Specifically, the Court held that a continuance

+ - orother:less -severe remedy would not have been effective,

20



because the reason the witnesses were excluded was due to the
defendant’s refusal to submit to an evaluation by the State’s
expert. Id. Although the excluded expert testimony would have
been significant, exclusion of the witnesses was proper because
a continuance would not have changed anything, unless the
- defendant decided to submit to the mental examination in the
meantime, and because the defendant’s discovery violation was
willul. Id.

In Mr. Canéte’s case, the trial court abused its discretion
and violated Mr. Canete’s Sixth Amendment and Article I,
section 22 right to compel witnesses to testify on his behalf when
it denied his motion to amend its witness list and depose N.C.

Applying the first factor from Hutchinson to Mr. Canete’s
case, it appears that the trial court in this case did not believe that
lesser sanctions other than denial of the witness’s testimony
would be effective. RP 92. Defense counsel suggested that the
interview with N.C. could take place within a few days, but the

court denied the request, stating that the State will have already

21



put on most of their case by that time. RP 85. Itdoesnotappear . - .
that the Court ever considered whether a short continmance .

would remedy the witness issue in this case. - This 45 mot a .

if a short contimuance were gramted. Rather, in Mr Gangie’s . -
case, the defense only needed o few days to .coordinate dnd .

conduct an interview with N.C. RP 85. Denying:the defonse:

request fo intexview N.C. and exclusion of M.C.’s testinaony

seerns 10 be a severe remedy in light of the other optionsthe court

had, either granting the motion and allowing the dfefeﬁs@‘a;fewm o

days 1o interview N.C., or allowing a short contimuance, - .
in analyzing the second factor, it is difficult to determine . -

the precise impact of N.C.’s testimony on the evidence af trial

because she was never interviewed. However, an interview with
N.C. may have produced evidence critical to the defense as far

as the May 12, 2017, incident, since she was allegedly in the

home at the time of the incideni. Because S.W. 'tesfé;:iﬁ@d: that M,

Canete entered her voom and Mz, Canete testificd that he gid e,



' itis possible that N.C. could have been able to provide additional

- information about that critical disputed fact. RP 158, 659. N.C.

could havealso testified about the dispute between S.W. and Mr,

.. Canete before S.W. was sent to her room that day. Therefore, it
'1s péssible that N.C.’s testimony would have had a tremendous
-+ impacton-the defense’s case, the credibility of S.W., and the

~..outcome‘of trial.

« iIn regard to the third factor, as in Hutchinson, the State

- -certainky cannot claim that the defense’s wanting to add N.C. as
* a witness would be a surprise, considering they had knowledge

~.:"of the defense’s request to interview N.C. for at least several

months priortortrial. CP 47 —49. Additionally, it is unclear how
the State would be prejudiced by the defense’s interviewing or
adding N.C. to' its witness list.

Mr..Canete acknowledges that N.C. was not listed on the
State’s!'witness list provided pursuant to CrR 4.7. RP 83.

However;:this' is not a situation where the defense brings a

.+ surprise avitness on the day of trial and expects the court to allow

23



them to testify. Rather, the circumstances of Mr. Canete’s case
show that the State was aware of the defense’s request to
-interview N.C., and the State never informed defense counsel
that they would not assist in facilitatihg the interview until the
week prior to trial. Additionally, N.C. is a sibling of S.W and
N.C.’s forensic interview was included in discovery to the
defense. RP 84. Tt was certainly no surprise that defense counsel
wanted to interview N.C. prior to trial. Given that it was the
- State’s belief that N.C. would have no relevant information to
provide, it does not appear that the State would be prejudiced by
her testimony. RP 87.

Finally, defense counsel’s failure to include N.C. on the
defense witness list at an earlier date was not willful or done in
bad faith. Rather, defense counsel’s failure to include N.C. on
their witness list at an earlier date was largely duc to waiting to
hear back from the State about scheduling an interview with N.C.
Defense counsel believed that the State, in good faith, would

assist in arranging the interview. When the State informed
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defense counsel the week prior to trial that they would not assist, .. * oo

defense counsel felt his only option was to makeithe CR 4.6 ' 5 wady s
motion. ety

Therefore, it appears that the first, thirci,@nd fourth-factors -~ ot o
weigh against the irial couwrt’s decision to exclade S.W.lsin @ ot o
testimony in this case. Because exclusion of the testimony .« o .
altogether is ar “extraordinary remedy,” the trial court abusedits - 0 1

discretion by preventing N.C. from testifying in this case: . . .o,

Furthermore, Mr. Canete’s case is distinguishable from the {
facts of Taylor, showing thai a sanction less severe:than - ... o,

exclusion of testimony altogether is appropriate, .~ Defense
counsel’s actions in Taylor were aegregious compared to defense
counsel’s actions here. In Taylor, defense counsel waited until-

the second day of trial after two key state witnesses had already -

testified to motion the court to include z new, previously

undisclosed witness. 484 U.S. at 403, Additionally, defense. . -~ o <

counsel in Tavlor interviewed the witness the weelo prior toiteigl vt oot e,

and did not wntorm the State vntl the second day of fiak cTdpst-~ 1 o Staws wneed
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..o 417 'In.contrast, in Mr. Canete’s case, defense counsel brought

- the notion to amend the witness list during oral argument on

motions in limine, prior to jury selection, when the trial could

-have. easily been continued. RP 80. Unlike in Taylor, the State

- had advance notice on multiple occasions that this was a witness
. - thdt the defense wanted to interview for trial. CP 47 —49. Where
-‘the court’s decision to exclude the witness in Taylor relied on the

. willful nature of the defense counsel’s behavior, that same

« willfulness isinot present in Mr. Canete’s case. 484 U.S. at 417.

While the exclusion of the witness may have been an appropriate

». .. remedy:in Taylor, defense counsel’s conduct in Mr. Canete’s

case does not warrant complete exclusion of N.C.’s testimony.

Additionally, there are substantial differences in the nature

of the witness testimony sought by the defendant in Taylor and

Mr. Canete. The defendant in Taylor sought the testimony of a

witness who was not an eyewitness to the incident, and who the

+.«court hada stréong suspicion may be fabricating his testimony.

aeeacd o aldaatd05. [Unlike Taylor, in Mr. Canete’s case, N.C., because
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she was present in the home where the May 12, 2017, incident
allegedly occurred, was an eyewitness to the happenings in the
home that day. She could also provide critical testimony as to
the relationship between S.W. and Mr. Canete. The testimony of
N.C. in Mr. Canete’s case is far more critical than the testimony
-that was excluded in Taylor. Therefore, the circumstances of Mr.
Canete’s case support a far less severe sanction than exclusion of
the witness altogether.

Therefore, based on the above factors, the trial court
abused its discretion and violated Mr. Canete’s right to compel
witnesses by excluding the testimony of 8.W. altogether in Mr.
Canete’s case. Mr. Canete’s convictions should be reversed.

ii.  Mr. Canete’s Sixth Amendment right to counsel

was violated when the prosecutor’s actions denied
his counsel the opportimity to interview N.C.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution
and Article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution
guarantee a defendant a right to counsel. A fair trial

contemplates- that the defendant will not be prejudiced by the
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denial of the right to counsel. Burri, 87 Wn.2dwat 180, A -~ .o
defendant is denied the right to counsel where ths actions of the ' - «1uitl wr o

prosecution deny the defsndant’s attorney the oppowtunity to

rs

prepare for trial. Id, Such preparation includes the tight tomake v (b o ogan

2l investigation of the facts and law applicabletndhecase: Idos o o e oot

Counsel has 2 duty to make a “full and complete investigationof - = v et
both the facts and the law in order to advise his clientand prepare v+ i
adequately and efficiently o present any defenses hexmight have:

to the charges against him.” State v, Hartwig, 36 Wn.2d 588, - - .. 1.0

601, 215 P.2d 564 (1950).

The prosecutor’s sctions and omissions in this ease .- o o
effectively denied Mr. Canste the right to counsel by preventing
him from interviewing N.C. in advance of trial. Barly inthe case,
and well before the case being confirmed for trial, defense
counsel communicated to the State thai he wanted to interview .

N.C,, the sister of S.W., prior o trial. RP 81. Defenss covmsel-w ' S fu
comraunicated that the reason hé: wanted to imferview NUELSads v e o e e o

because she was present in the home when ‘theMaw 18057 ¢ bro oo i e |

[
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incident, the incident underlying the rape of a child charge,
- vallegedly took.place.. RP 81. Defense counsel asked the State

-+ about-an jnterview with N.C. at least five times over the course

« . af several months:w CP 47 — 49. Defense counsel believed that,

+ . ibased on the nosms-of criminal practice, and in good faith, the

.- State would .assist in facilitating the interview, since N.C. was
- 8.W.’s stepsister-and the daughter of Katherine Romero, who
«were both. witnésses. for the State. RP 7. Despite the numerous
- requests; the State continued to ignore the requests completely.
Additionally, despite the numerous requests, the State
- never informed defense counsel that they would not assist in
+ . facilitating an interview with N.C. prior to the week before trial.
Had the State informed defense counsel at any time prior to the

- week before trial that they would not facilitate the interview,

- defense counsel could have added N.C. to the defense witness

- - list and-made the CrR' 4.6 deposition request well in advance of
i trial.t While it iS. tsue that N.C. was not listed on the defense

. witnesst ist atithe Xixhé of trial, it is also clear that the State had
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notice several months prior to trial of the defense’s interest in
interviewing N.C. It was therefore due to the actions and
omissions of the State, and the belief by defense counsel that the
State would, in good faith, either 'arrange the interview or let
defense counsel know in advance they would not be assisting,
that N.C. was never interviewed. In other words, the State’s
failure to timely respond to defense counsel’s requests to
interview N.C. denied Mr. Canete the opportunity to interview
N.C..altogether. The State’s actions denied Mr. Canete’s right
to counsel in this case because defense counsel was prevented
from making a “full and complete investigation into the facts . .
.” Hartwig, 36 Wn.2d at 601.

Therefore, the prosecutor’s actions in this case, and the
trial court’s denial of Mr. Canete’s motion to amend the witness
list and depose N.C. violated Mr. Canete’s right to counsel by
preventing him from interviewing N.C. and using her testimony

at-trial.
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iii. The court’s violations of Mr. Canete’s right to- . - vusdglis
compulsory process and right to counsel were not.. -~ 4 s o
harmless.

- Error of constitutional magnitude is harmiess onlw if the - v oonal v
reviewing court is conving w\val beyond » reasonable d@ub ﬁha_t' BV 1o o o end B ren
reasonable jury would have :reach@d the same result-imabsence « 7 ave oche

of the error. Staie v. Rugsell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 94, 882 P.2d 747 (s Tl

{1994). Violation of the defendant’s comstitutional right to- SRR
compulsory process and right ic counse!l is assumed to e . SRS IR It

‘prejudicial, and the State has the burden of showing the error was-. <« i1. gt

harmless. Burri, 87 Wn.2d at 181 - 82.

Here, the State cannot show that violation of Mr. Caneté’s .~ vt
Sixth Amendment right to compﬁisery process  or His Sixth SECERNTP
Amendment right to counsel m this case was harmless. The .
State’s proving the elements of the charges in this case hinged
directly on the testimony of S.W. The defense attempted to . . .

aitack S.W.’s credibility, arguing that S.W.’s dislike of My, -

EARRNE I (S E) S
Canete led to her doing whatover it iakes to vemove Mrl Canebe: 1ov . whalever

from her life. RP 834, M.C,, boceuse she was present b thehor’ 531 (L bevaust

[RA]
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- on May.12,2017, and allegedly was the one who told Mr. Canete

| thaf S.W. had violated the terms of her grounding by possessing

'+ i .«aniPod inher backpack, would likely have relevant eyewitness
- o iinfornration:as to the events that occurred that day. However,

<= -because $he was never interviewed, it is unknown what N.C.’s

testimohy ‘would be. It is entirely possible that N.C. could
corroborate Mr, Canete’s assertion that he did not enter S.W.’s

bedroam on May 12, 2017. Such testimony would have had

+ - severe.impacts-on the credibility of S.W. and likely changed the

outcome of the trial. Therefore, the State cannot show that the

"o result of trial would be the same if N.C. had been called to testify

.. and cannot show that these errors were harmless.

B. Mr.:.Canete Received Ineffective Assistance of
Counsel when Counsel Failed to Interview N.C.

-+ During the Almost Five-yvear Period when the Case
was Pending Trial.

In the altemmative, Mr. Canete’s counsel violated his right
to effective assistance of counsel by failing to interview N.C.
SR

prior to trial. The Sixth Amendment to the United States:

o
ARERE AN HEH TS HATE TN
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Constitution and Article I, section 22 of the Washington State
‘Constitution guarantee the right to effective assistance of
counsel. To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of
counsel, the defendant must establish both that the defense
attorney’s conduct falls below a minimum objective standard of
reasonable attorney conduct, and there is a reasonable probability
that the outcome would be different but for the attorney’s

conduct. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 80 L. Ed.

2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). Defense counsel’s failure to
interview identified and easily accessible witnesses before trial

constitutes deficient performance. State v. Jones, 183 Wn.2d

327, 331, 352 P.3d 776 (2015). A claim that counsel was
ineffective is a mixed question of law and fact that the appellate

court reviews de novo. In re Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853, 865, 16

P.3d 610 (2001).
In Jones, the Washington Supreme Court held that defense
counsel’s performance fell below a reasonable standard of

conduct when defense counsel failed to interview three witnesses
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l‘“
R

who were clearly identified in police reporis and wheredefénse . 40 00y
counsel gave “no reason” for vot interviewing the witnesses A; priom: coood el ing
to trial. Id, 2t 332. The Court reasoned that: “We carl certaimby - O ¢t roae
defer to a trial lawyer’s decision sgaingt calling witnesses Ifthak. v « decioion i)
lawyer investigaied the case and made an.infommed: .and b duw oo an
reasonable decision against sonducting a particular intervievor v - T s
calling a particular witness.” Id. at 340. However, theCourtheld - - v - i
that counsel’s failure o interview the winesses could not be. " w .

classified as a “strategic decision” because “[Clounsel can hardly- . - .+ v

-

be said to have made a strategic choice when s/he has not et =« o o
obtsined the facts on which a decision could be made.” Id.iat durk s

341 (quoting Sanders v, Ratelle, 21 F.3d 1446, 1457 (9th Cix.: 0+ v,

2002). Importantly, the testimony of the three wiinesses not - . & .. .
interviewed in Jones would have supported the 'defendant’s i
theory of the case, which was that the defendant acted in'self- = .. 0 0y
defense. Id. at 334. G o bR

Additionally, thm Conrt in Jumggu held that the dedendentliy the Cowt in i

' g )

was prejudiced by nis comnsel’s falture to intervicw the-wiidsssady his counsel s fuil



. eupoos aoprioksto- trialiId, at 344, The Court reasoned that the case
ievsig thoinvolved a feredibility contest between the State’s witnesses and
Cwth VWones's witnesses” and that the testimony of the three witnesses
-t wailing -could have had a substantial impact on the outcome of trial,
sk s because their testimony would have supported the defense theory
oo of the -case.and called the credibility of State witnesses into

. e iooquestion. Id. o
sl s <o In contrast, Division One of the Court of Appeals held that
w4 a defense courisel did not act unreasonably by failing to interview
wie a'witness who was not identified in police reports, who was not
Coettan eyewitness:to the incident, and whose location and contact
.+ i.-information‘were not readily available to the defense. State v.
- Wood, 19 Wn.:App. 2d 743, 780, 498 P.3d 968 (2021). Unlike
. .4 in Jones, the eourt in Wood stated that counsel’s decision not to
. dnterviéw the witness was a “reasonable strategic move” because
defense counsel chose to direct their case theory in another

vies beld tedirection:: Id

o todndery ey cho sty
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In Mr. Canete’s case, defense counsel acted unreasonably
by failing to interview N.C. prior to trial. Defense counsel
expressed interest in interviewing N.C. because he believed she
~ had relevant information about the May 12, 2017, incident. RP
81. Defense counsel’s interest in N.C.’s testimony is also shown
- through his several requests to interview her months in advance
of trial. RP 81. Defense counse] should have, at a much earlier
date in the almost five years the case was pending trial, when the
State was not responding to his requests to interview N.C.,
attempted to arrange an interview with N.C. himself or moved
the court for an order for deposition under CrR 4.6. However,
despite the fact that N.C. had not been interviewed, and counsel
had not heard from the State as to whether they would assist in
facilitating that interview, defense counsel chose to confirm the
_case as ready for trial on February 23, 2022. RP 89. Overall,
- defense counsel’s decision not to seek an interview with N.C.

himself or to ask the court to depose N.C. at an earlier date during

36



the five-year time period the case was pending was mot .« ol the
reasonable. RIRTALIER A

The actions of Mr. Canete’s Jefense counsel are similar to 0 ' Caidte
defense counsel’s actions in Jones, Like in Jones; WN.O:amvag = s tons o Jone
identified i;m the discovery provided 1o defense counsel, asia o vove peosie
forensic in‘t@wiﬁw with her was included in distovery. RP. 84, - i s
Additionally, defense counsel was aware at early slages inthe -~ v o
case that N.C. was present in the home on May 12, 2017, when - e o iy e
the alleged incident underlying the rape charge occurteds RP:81u o - v 0 e
Like the wiinesses in Jones, who supported the defense’stheory .+ 1. wa,
of the case, it possible that N.C.’s version of evenisiwould have ..t 0
supported WM, Caunete’s defense snd would ;damage “dhe ¢« - 5 i
credibility of the State’s witnesses. However, despite having this - .~ -~ ...,
knowledge for an almost five-year period prior totrial, defense - - 1 . .o
counsel never interviewed the witness. Thus, defense counsel’soo lovad vl o

Furthermors, unlike defenise counsel in Wood welemsasre. andike deferns

counsel’s failure 1o interview N in Mr. Canete’s gase céanfioh 1o nterview N.C.



~wowo. oberclassifiedias.a strategic decision. Mr. Canete was charged in
this case in 2017, and his trial was not until 2022, five years later.
cienad oM Canete’s defense counsel was involved in Mr. Canete’s case
- 1y o ifrom the time it was filed in 2017 to the end of trial. RP 87.
i tu e <Defense counsel had five years to arrange an interview with N.C. -
oot e oo ask thetcourt for a deposition under CrR 4.6. In fact, Mr.
-+ Canete’s counsel even admitted when making his motion to
st depose N.C. that he probably made a mistake in not making the
o ehoe -CrR-4.6 tequest sooner, stating “Should T have done things
s o differently? Yes, I think everything in this case could have been
pop o done differently.” RP 89. Therefore, Mr. Canete’s defense
- .icounsel’s-decisions that led to N.C. not being interviewed or

- called to testify cannot be classified as strategic decisions.
Additional_ly, Mr. Canete was prejudiced by defense
o+ counsel’s :failure to interview N.C. N.C. is Mr. Canete’s
Lo w0 brological:dauighter. RP 380, She is the half-sister of $.W. and
counael i lived:in the house with both Mr. Cancte and S.W. RP 380. A

4 My Cancforensie Jdntesview of N.C. was included in the discovery
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provided to defense counsel. RP 84. According to Mr. Canete,
N.C. was present at the home on May 12, 2017, when the incident
underlying the child rape charge against Mr. Canete occurred.
RP 217. At the very least, N.C. would provide relevant
information about the relationship dynamics between S.W. and
N.C. because she lived in the home with them. It is possible she
could provide relevant details surrounding the alleged May 12,
2017, incident. In particular, N.C. may have relevant
information about whether Mr. Canete entered S.W.’s bedroom
on May 12, 2017. Had, for example, N.C. testified that she never
saw Mr. Canete enter S.W.’s bedroom, S.W.’s credibility would
have been extremely damaged. N.C. could have also testified
about the fight over S.W.’s iPod between S.W. and Mr. Canete
on the date in question, lending additional support to Mr.
Cancte’s theory that S.W. was making false allegations against
him because he was a tough disciplinarian. This testimony could

have significantly altered the outcome of trial. Therefore, there
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is a reasonable probability that the culcome of trial would have s -,

been different had defense counsel acted diligently.in this casel s .

Because counsel’s failure fo interview N.C. iower: the o

course of five years was unrsasonable and premdicial to Mo .

St i
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Cemets’s case, Mr. Canete right to offeciive assistanceofcomnsalit + ot vipho 1
was violated by coumsel’s deficient performance -ahd his: o ool i
conviciions should be reversed. St o

C. The Trial Court Erred by Instructing the Jury that~ : -
Corroboration  of 8.W.) s

5:1

Fair Trial, Lo

The due process clanses of both the State and Esderral;,-::.«-:.- TR

Constitutions declare that no person shall be deprived of lifs,.

liberty, or property without due process of law. Due process

includes the guarantee of a fair trial. State v, Scherner, 153 W, . ..

App. 621, 651, 225 P.3d 24% {2000). Cer el el i

Article IV, section 15 of the Washington Constitutiofl e

siates, “Judges shall nei charge

£his

Testimony _was - Neot o
Reguired for Convicton in Vinlation of Ar tﬂ@i@qu TR
Section 16 of the Washington Constitution and in ,e;‘, IR
Violation of Mr., Caneie’s Due Process ngm $0 8 i Vi o

juries with respedhtomdiiess.ofiall not ¢ha
. i
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fact, nor commetit théreon, but shall declare the law.” A trial
court makes’an-improper comment on the evidence if it gives a

jury instruction that: conveys to the jury his or her personal

attitude o the merits.of the case. State v, Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709,
721, 132:R,3d 1046:(2006). The constitution mandates that juries
are sole individuals responsible for determining the credibility of

witnesses, not the court. State v. Davis, 20 Wn.2d 443, 147 P.2d

940 (19&14)NT0< determme whether the trial court improperly
R 3 I
commen:ted;on :the evidence, appellate courts review instructions
sy n “; i) SRFNE

de novo, ;Id at 721

In cases involving allegations of sex crimes, some courts

. LI e
ROV T

have given a “no-corroboration instruction” based on RCW

9A .44, 020( 1) That statute in relevant part, reads “[i]n order to

I

convict a person of any crime defined in this chapter, it shall not
B , (n

be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be

corroborated.” RCW 9A.44.020(1). Washington courts hold that

PO aRaey
a jury instruction that does no more than accurately convey the

s ot
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law is a proper instruction. See State v. Brush, 183 Wn.2d 550,

557,353 P.3d 213 (2015).

Washington courts have wupheld no-corroboration
instructions as valid, correct statements of law under RCW
9A.44.020(1) in cases where the instruction is given in reference

to an alleged victim’s testimony in sex offense cases. See State

v. Chenoweth, 118 Wn. App. 521, 537, 354 P.3d 13 (2015); State

v. Zimmerman, 130 Wn. App. 170, 182 — 83, 121 P.3d 1216
(2005). These decisions all follow the holding of State v.
Clayton, a 73-year-old Washington Supreme Court case, where
the defendant argued that a no-corroboration instruction
constitutes an improper judicial comment on the evidence in
violation of Article IV, section 16 of the Washington
Constitution. 32 Wn.2d 571, 2020 P.2d 922 (1949). The Court
in Clayton held that the no-corroboration instruction was not an
improper comment on the evidence because the instruction was

a correct statement of the law. Id. at 572.
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{mportantly, despite Clayton’s holding, the Washington:. . . < b
Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions (WPICs) do ngtdropsss ano- -+ (i oo !
corroberation instruction,  Raiher, the WPICs; by comment, <. 0 Rt

explicitly recommend against giving such an fastrugions. .0 v o st i
The matter of corroboration is really a IR E N TR VIR
matter of sufficiency of the evidence. e SRS
An instruction on this subject would be RS IREEEE VLERRES B S
a negative instruction. The proving or ST e
disproving of such a charge is a factual S e
problem, not a legal problem. Whether S L
a jury can or snhould sccept the S S shan
uncorroborated testimony of the B LN TN S SO SRT
prosecuiinig ~ wilness  or  the I RISRS
uncorroborated  testimnony of the R T R
defendant is best left to argument of S R
counsel.

.11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instractions: CR e

Criminal 45.02 cmt. at 1004 (5th ed. 2021), S SR
However, recently, all three divisions of the Court of

Apupeals, as well as other jurisdictions, have guestinned theuse -~ ohun

of no-corroboration instructions. With one judge: gﬂiﬁg:ag farag . ootean W

to assert that if the no-corroboration mgiraction wewsanidssusofte - oo shoratios

first impression, they would hold that it is “o odromentron the Jn o - uld Lodd 1



- S, gvidence and reverse the conviction.” Chenoweth, 188 Wn. App.
< v nat 38 (Becker, I, concurring).

o VP, s InvChenoweth, Division One of the Court of Appeals
v i e ersultimately upheld a no-corroboration instruction, stating that it

L. reiiwas bound by Clayton’s holding, but noting that “[w]hile we are.
SETEN AR

i ooqtriconcerned with the use of such an instruction even in sex crimes,

[T AU B

-»we do not conclude that its use in this case was a comment on the
.\ X S

o re;V.idence.” Id. However, in the concurring opinion, Judge
;EB.e:‘cker noted that, “, . . the matter of corroboration is really a
- matter of sufficiency of the evidence. Many correct statements of

the law are not appropriate to give as instructions.” Id.
- Additionally, in Zimmerman, Division Two of the Court
Appeals held that it was bound by Clayton when faced with a
i+« challenge to ano-corroboration instruction, but again implied
- nor e disapproval of the instruction, stating that “[2]lthough we share
ners i the o [Washington  Supreme  Court Committee on  Jury
nstracton lnstraetions] misgivings, we are bound by Clayton.” 130 Wn.

At s Yo cAppuatd 82 4183,
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Most recently, in State v. Amador, Division Two of the

Court of Appeals again expressed concerns about no-
corroboration instructions as a violation of due process, as “they
seem to favor the alleged victim’s testimony over the defendant’s
testimony.” 2022 Wn. App. LEXIS 604 at *22 (Wash. Ct. App.,
Mar. 22, 2022) (unreported).  Further, the Court in Amador
stated: “There is no need for a no corroboration instruction, and
the better course is for trial courts not to give one.” Id. at *23.
- Although the court ultimately decided it was bound by Clayton
- and upheld the no corroboration instruction in Amador, the Court
urged the Washington Supreme Court to address the issue. Id.
Additionally, Division Three of the Court of Appeals in

State v. Steenhard examined the use of a no-corroboration

instruction in a sex offense case, expressing concern about
Clayton’s holding. 2019 Wn. App. LEXIS 1898 (Wash. Ct. App.
2019) (unpublished). The Steenhard court stated:

Despite affirming the validity of a

noncorroboration jury instruction, we
hold the same misgivings cver the
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instruction expressed by this court in
State v. Zimmerman, by Judge Becker
concurring in State v. Chenoweth, and
by other jurisdictions.

2019 Wn. App. LEXIS at *23 (citations omitted).

| | The courts in Amador and in Steenhard also noted that
nuUMmMerous othér jﬁrisdictions have disapproved of giving no
corroboration instructions, including South Carolina, Florida,

and Indiana. See, e.g., State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 499 — 500,

787 S.E.2d 430 (2016); Gutierrez v. State, 177 So.3d 226, 230 —

34 (Fla. 2015); Ludy v. State, 784 N.E.2d 459, 461-63 (Ind.

-2003). Specifically, in Gutierrez, the Florida Supreme Court
reversed a conviction where a no-corroboration instructicn was
given based on a statute similar to RCW 9A.44.020(1). 177
So.3d at 236 — 34, The Florida court held that the no-
corroboration instruction in that case “effectively placed the
judge’s thumb on the scale to lend an extra element of weight to
the victim’s testimony.” Id. at 231 — 32. In Ludy, the Indiana

Supreme Court held that no-corroboration instructions are
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misleading because “Jurors may interpret this instruction to
mean that baseless testimony should be given credit and that they
should ignore inconsistencies . . .” 784 N.E.2d 459, 462 (Ind.
2003).

Jury Instruction number 9 in this case provides: “In order
to convict a person of Child Molestation in the Second Degree or
Rape of a Child in the Second Degree, it is not necessary that the
testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated.” CP 67.
Defense counsel objected to inclusion of the instruction, arguing
that “The State seems to want to be relieved of having to argue
this to the jury. The State can certainly argue this to the jury, but
when they hear it from the court, it is a comment on the evidence
here.” RP 722.  Additionally, defense counsel argued that
inclusion of the mstruction improperly precludes defense counsel
from arguing that there’s not enough evidence to convict in this
case. RP 722.

The trial court erred in Mr. Canete’s case by giving jury

instruction number 9, which provided that the testimony of S.W.
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need not be corroborated for Mr. Canete to be convicted. CP 67.
Mr, Canete recognizes that despite the concerns raised by each
division of the Washington Court of Appeals, the Washington
Supreme Court has not recently addressed the issue of
corroboration instructions, and thus, courts feel they are bound
by Clayton.

However, Mr. Canete maintains that the court’s decision
to include the no-corroboration instruction in his case is improper
as an improper judicial comment on the evidence and a violation
of his due process right to a fair trial. Both S.W. and Mr. Canete
testified at trial. By instructing the jury that S.W.’s testimony
need not be corroborated, the court effectively placed his “thumb
on the scale” in “lending an extra element of weight” to S.W.’s

testimony. See Gutierrez, 177 So.3d at 231 — 32. It also

suggested to the jury that it could disregard any inconsistencies
in S.W.’s testimony and accept her testimony at trial without

scrutinizing 1t. 784 N.E.2d at 462.
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Jury instruction 9 in Mr. Canete’s case constituted an
improper comment on the evidence in violation of Article IV,
section 16 of the Washington Constitution and violated Mr,
Canete’s due process right to a fair trial. Further, given that Mr.
Canete’s case was largely a credibility contest between Mr.
Canete and S.W., the State will be unable to prove that the trial
court’s use of the instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable

doubt. State v. Rhoden, 189 Wn. App. 193, 202 — 03, 356 P.2d

242 (2015). Mr. Canete’s convictions should therefore be
reversed.

D. Mr. Canete’s Right to a Fair Trial was
Violated when the Prosecutor Committed
Misconduct by Appealing to the Passions and
Prejudices of the Jury, Argued Evidence
Outside the Record, and Misstated the
Burden of Proof During Closing Argument.

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a
defendant must establish that the prosecutor’s conduct was

improper and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756,

278 P.3d 653 (2012). Where a defendant does not object at trial,
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he is deemed to have waived any error unless the prosecutor’s
misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction
could not have cured any resulting prejudice. Id. at 760. Under
this heightened standard, the defendant must show that (1) no
curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect
on the jury and (2) the misconduct resuited in prejudice that had
a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict. State v.
Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).
1, The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing
generalizations about all child sex cases during

closing argument in My. Canete’s case, improperly
appealing to the passions and prejudices of the jury.

Prosecutors commit misconduct when they use arguments
designed to arouse the passions or prejudices of the jury. State v.

Ramos, 164 Wn. App. 327, 338, 263 P.3d 1268 (2011). Proper

argument “stays within the bounds of the evidence and the

instructions given.” State v. Smiley, 195 Wn. App. 185, 194, 379
P.3d 149 (2016). Prosecutors have wide latitude to argue

. inferences from the evidence. State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759,
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841, 147 P.34 1201 (2006). However, prosecusors imgroperdy -+ . = oo
appeal to the passions and prejudices of the jury wien fhey avgue o il ot
the “threatened impact on other cases, or society dmgeneral, . o rgiuy

rather than the meriis of the State’s case.” Statewulhibray, 190 0’y

Win spp. 630, 691, 360 P34 940 (2015). Vo ddditionaltly, - oo 3
prosecutors impropetly appeal to the passions and prejudices of - creet T
the jury when they base their argument on fatts ouiside the e

evidence. State v. Clafin, 38 Wn. App. 847, 849, 690 P.2d 1186

(1984), cior

In Thierry, the prosecutor made severs! statements in0 . - . -
closing argument implyieg thet the jury must convief the. - . b g
defendant to ensure that the testimony of all child wictims is ..
believed in child sex cases to proiect all future victims from such - ST
abuse. Id. Inthat case, where the Smm alleged that the defendant .
raped and molested his @igh‘ﬁ:——ysa;r_@ld son, theprosecutor .~ .
specifically argued, “[Defense counsel] wants ym:-;sTiz%@:.:f?baS;icaMy»'..' SR G
dlsvegard everything [the alloged vietim] bas safdv o Ihthat e e sliewed v

argumnent has any merit, then the State may ag welldmsteirean: v wen the S



Sor ey uprosecuting these cases, and the law might as well say that “The

B PR B IR R RN
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v wiord 0f a «hild is not enough.”” Id. at 688, Additionally, the
« . prosecutomstated that there is often no corroborating evidence in

t:.ochildisex cases. “because people don’t rape children in front of

otheri.people.” Id. at 685. Division Two held that the

o« “implication” of the prosecutor’s argument was that the jury

- conviet- the -defendant to “send a message” and to protect

-children, which was improper. Id. at 691.

Additionally, comments during closing argument were

+.improper where the prosecutor argued that “the system” did not
. require corroborating evidence and called on jurors to imagine a

" “system™ where corroborating evidence was required. Smiley,

195-Wn. App. at 194. The prosecutor specifically argued that “If

! . the system did work that way, kids would have to be told, we’re

¢ 7 sorry, we-.can’t prosecute your case, we can’t hold your abuser

v responsible because all we have is your word, and that’s not

Pra e
ki s

simough . .1 Wieidon’t do that. That’s not how the system works.”.

s may as widi Diviston :One held these comments were improper because
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the argument did not “stay[] within the bounds of the evidence”
and that this argument improperly asked the jury to align
themselves with “the system” in deciding what the quantum of
proof should be from a public policy perspective. Id. at 195.

- Similarly, in State v. Harris, this Court held that a

prosecutor’s comments were improper when he argued that
“there 1s almost never proof. This is not unusual” and that this
case “is like so many others where there is no corroborating
evidence.” 2017 Wn. App. LEXIS 299 at *24 (Wash. Ct. App.
2017) (unreported). In Harris, the prosecutor also argued that
“the law does not require corroboration . .. We don’t want it to.
Because then you could prosecute maybe one percent of the
crimes.” Id, at *19. Division Two held that these statements
were similar to the problematic statements in Smiley, and that
the prosecutor improperly appealed to the passions and
prejudices of the jury when making these statements. Id. at *20.

The prosecutor’s comments during his closing argument

in Mr. Canete’s case improperly appealed to the passions of the
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jury when the prosecutor made generalized arguments about
child sex crime cases unrelated to the specific evidence in Mr.
Canete’s case. At the beginning of the prosecutor’s closing
argument, he stated that, “survivors of child sex abuse have no
witnesses. They have to tell their story. They have to find the
courage and the voice to tell their story because there are no
witnesses.” RP 811. Later in the argument, the prosecutor
stated, “Child sex abuse victims don’t have a — they have to do it
on their own.” RP 827. Finally, in rebuttal, the prosecutor stated
“It’s a child sex case. In a child sex case we don’t have witnesses.
In a child sex case, we didn’t have DNA.” RP 849.

Not only are these statements false, they also improperly
imply to the jury that they should convict Mr. Canete on behalf
of “survivors” in all sex abuse cases because these cases “have
no witnesses,” rather than based on the specific evidence
presented in Mr. Canete’s case. The prosccutor’s generalizations
about all child sex cases in Mr. Canete’s case are strikingly

similar to the statements made by prosecutors held to be
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improper in Thierry, Smiley, and Harris. Specifically, the

prosecutor’s statement that “child sex abuse cases have no

witnesses,” like the arguments in Thierry, Smiley, and Harris
improperly implied to the jury that they should convict Mr.
Canete on behalf of all “survivors” in “child sex abuse cases”
because the way the system works is that there are never
witnesses. RP 812. The prosecutor, for example, did not argue
that some or many child sex cases do not have witnesses, he
instead argued generally that all child sex cases have no
witnesses or DNA evidence. RP 811.

The prosecutor’s generalized comments about child sex
cases inflamed the passions and prejudices of the jury against Mr.
Canete by making the jury believe that because this “child sex
case” is like all other child sex cases, where “there are no
witnesses,” the jury should convict Mr. Canete on behalf of all
“survivors” of sexual abuse. Therefore, the prosecutor’s many
comments generalizing child sex cases were improper, and

constituted prosecutorial misconduct.
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ii. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing
Mr, Canete’s thought process in first-person based
purely on speculation and not on facts in evidence,
improperly inflaming the passions and prejudices of

the jury.

The prosecutor’s argument in closing was also improper
because the prosecutor argued the first-person thought process of

Mr. Canete, which was outside the evidence. In State v. Pierce,

Division Two held that a prosecutor commits misconduct when
he or she argues the defendant’s first-person thought process
while allegedly committing the crime. 169 Wn. App. 533, 554,
280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Specifically, in Pierce, the prosecutor
argued the defendant’s thought process before allegedly
committing felony murder, burglary, robbery, arson, and theft:

So he’s thinking, “Alright. Who do T
know in Quilcene that has money?”
Okay. Well, we know he knows
Tommy Boyd, and we know that he
knows Mike Donahue, and we know
they don’t have any money, okay?
“But who do I know in Quilcene that
has money? Well, the Yarrs. I know
they got money. And they have cash,
because they paid me in cash. I can go
up there and get some money. But
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there’s one problem: I don’t want to

work for it. I want my meth now. I

don’t want to work for it and then go

get it; I want my meth now, so that is

a problem. And I'm pretty sure Pat’s

just not going to give it to me without

me working for it. So, hmm, I’ve got

to get some money. He's not going to

give it to me; so I need a gun, but I

don't know anybody that has a gun.”
Id. at 542. The court held that this first-person argument was
improper because “it is [ ] improper for the prosecutor to step into
the defendant’s shoes™ and that the argument “served no purpose
but to inflame the jury’s prejudice against {the defendant.]” Id.
at 554. Further, the court reasoned that while prosecutor could
ask the jury to infer facts about the defendant from the evidence,
the prosecutor could not testify about what thoughts the
defendant must have had in his head because that was a matter
outside the evidence. Id. at 554 — 55. Ascribing repugnant and

amoral thoughts to the defendant based on speculation is

improper and prejudicial. Id. at 554.
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In Mr. Canete’s trial, the prosecutor committed
misconduct when he argued what he thought Mr. Canete’s first-
person thought process must have been while allegedly
committing the crimes. Specifically, the prosecutor committed
misconduct by arguing:
He comes into the room, lays in her
bed, lays next to her, probably just
feeling it out. He lays there. She is
not awake. How far can I go? That’s
what he’s done before, right? . . . He’s
feeling it out. Is she awake? How far
can I get with this? Is she going to
respond? Can I go a little further? . . .

RP 815 — 16. The prosecutor continued to argue:
It’s what he did before. How far can [
get? How far can I go? Guess what?
You put your fingers in her vagina,
it’s too far.

RP 816.

Just as in Pierce, Mr. Canete’s thought process was not
presented as evidence during trial. The prosecutor in Mr.

Canete’s case did not ask the jury to infer Mr. Canete’s thought

process from the evidence. The prosecutor instead “stepped into
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the shoes” of Mr. Canecte and argued in first-person what he
believed was Mr. Canete’s thought process. The prosecutor’s
comments were substantially similar to the improper comments
made in Pierce, and like in Pierce, served no purpose but to
“inflame the jury’s prejudice” against Mr. Canete. By arguing
Mr. Canete’s alleged thought process, the prosecutor ascribed
arnoral and repugnant thoughts to Mr. Canete based on his own
speculation rather than the evidence.

In fact, the first-person statements made in Mr. Canete’s
case appear even more prejudicial than the statements in Pierce
due to the nature of Mr. Canete’s charges. In Pierce, where the
defendant faced felony murder, burglary, robbery, and arson
charges, the prosecutor described the defendant’s thought
process as a drug addict who “want[ed] [his] meth now.” Id. at
554. Undoubtedly, the defendant in Pierce faced very serious
charges. However, Pierce faced no charges of a sexual nature or
charges involving children. In contrast, Mr. Canete faced

- multiple charges of child sex crimes, charges that are already
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highly inflammatory by their nature. By stepping into the shoes
of Mr. Canete and ascribing the thought process of a sexual
predator meticulously planning his crimes to Mr. Canete, the
prosecutor’s argument had a highly inflammatory effect on the
passions and prejudices of the jury against Mr. Canete based on
pure speculation rather than facts in evidence.

Therefore, the prosecutor committed misconduct by
improperly appealing to the passions and prejudices of the jury
by ascribing an inflammatory first-person thought process to Mr.
Canete that was not in evidence.

1i. The prosecutor committed misconduct by

misstating the burden_of proof when arguing that
that the State only has to prove the “material

elements” of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt,
but not “everything”’ bevond a reasonable doubt.

Additionally, arguments by the prosecutor that shift,
trivialize, or misstate the State’s burden to prove the defendant’s
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt constitute misconduct. State v.
‘Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 859. Due process requires the

prosecution to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, every element
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necessary to constitute the crime with which the defendant is

- charged. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368, 90 S.

Ct. 1068 (1970). Courts, for example, have held that arguments
comparing the reasonable doubt standard to everyday decision

making improperly minimizes the gravity of the State’s burden.

State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 436, 326 P.3d 125 (2014).

Specifically, in Lindsay, the prosecutor’s comments were
improper where he argued that reasonable doubt is like walking
across a crosswalk when a car is stopped at a red light and the
pedestrian has a walk symbol because the pedestrian knows
beyond a reasonéble doubt that they would not get hit by the car.
Id.

The prosecutor in Mr. Canecte’s case engaged in
misconduct when he misled the jury by trivializing the State’s
burden of proof. Counsel stated, “What’s important is that we
have to prove our case beyond a reasonable doubt as to material

~elements of the charge okay? . . . but we don’t have to prove

“everything about the case beyond a reasonable doubt.” RP 824,

T e
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The prosecutor’s statement about how the State does not
‘have to prove “everything” in the case beyond a reasonable
doubt, but only has to prove the “material elements” misstates
the burden of proof as written in the jury instructions. In.order
to convict Mr. Canete, the jury instructions state that the
prosecution must prove the “elements” of the crimes beyond a
reasonable doubt. CP 63, 65. The instructions do not refer to
“material” elements and the prosecutor never clarified for the
jury what constitutes a “material element.” The prosecutor’s
statement about “material elements” implies that there are
elements of the crime that are not material, and thus those
elements do not have to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Additionally, the prosecutor’s argument that they do not
have to prove “everything about the case” beyond a reasonable
doubt minimizes the burden of proof by implying the
prosecutor’s burden of proof is less of a stringent standard than
it is. Similar to prosecutor’s comparing reasonable doubt to

everyday decision-making in Lindsay, this statement trivializes
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the gravity of the State’s burden by implying the burden is not
difficult for the State to meet because the State need not prove
“everything.” Overall, the comments about proving “material -
elements” and not having to prove “everything about the case”
were confusing for the jury and misstated the State’s burden of
proving every element beyond a reasonable doubt,

iv.  No_curative instruction would have obviated the

prejudicial impact of the prosecutor’s improper
arguments on the jury.

Where defense counsel does not object to the State’s
closing argument, the defendant must show that a curative
instruction could not have obviated any prejudicial impact on the

jury. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 455 (2011). The

prosecutor’s misconduct in Mr. Canete’s case affected the
outcome of his case and could not have been cured with a proper
instruction.

In Smiley, the court. held that a curative instruction could
have remedied the prejudicial impact of the prosecutor’s

comments asking jurors to imagine a “system” where
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corroboration was required to hold “abusers accountable” during
closing argument because the prosecutor made the comments at
the beginning of the argument, when the court could have
“decisively derailed” the argument by instructing the jury to
disregard the comments had the defense objected and where the
defense used the argument in its own closing argument. 195 Whn.
App. at 197,

In Pierce, on the other hand, the court held that the
prejudice caused in the context of the entire closing argument
could not be cured with a jury instruction. Pierce, 169 Wn. App.
at 556. Specifically, the prosecutor’s comments caused prejudice
incurable by a jury instruction where the prosecutor, in addition
to making other improper arguments, stepped into the
defendant’s shoes and argued his thought process during closing
argument. Id. The Court reasoned that “Because the prosecutor
focused on how shocking and unexpected the crimes were . . . in

conjunction with the prosecutor’s other improper and highly
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inflammatory arguments,” a jury instruction could not cure any
prejudice in the minds of the jury. Id.
Mr. Canete’s case is distinguishable from Smiley and is

more akin to Pierce. Smiley did not involve the prosecutor

“stepping into the shoes” of the defendant and arguing the
defendant’s thought process in first person, like in Mr. Canete’s
case. As in Pierce, a curative instruction could not have cured
the prejudice caused by the prosecutor’s arguing Mr. Canete’s
thought process in first person, combined with the prejudice
caused by the generalizations about child sex cases and
misstating the burden.

The prosecutor’s arguments in the context of the entire
closing argument prejudiced the jury against Mr. Canete to such
a degree that no instruction could have remedied the prejudice.
The improper arguments painted Mr. Canete as a child predator
who meticulously planned his crimes and called upon the jury to

convict him on behalf of all survivors of child sexual abuse.
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arguments inflamed the passions and prejudices of the jury
enoﬁgh to affect the verdict in this case. Rather than focus on the
- evidence present in this particular case, the jury was left to
ponder the effect of their decision on all survivors of child sex
abuse. The Jury was also left with the incorrect assumption that
all child sex cases have no witnesses rather than contemplating
the specific reasons why there may be no corroborating evidence
in this case. The prosecutor’s improper arguments had a
substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict in this case.
Because the prosecution’s closing arguments were
-improper, flagrantly inflammatory, and could not be rcured by
jury instruction had defense counsel timely objected, and
because there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor’s
misconduct affected the jury verdict in this case, Mr. Canete’s

convictions should be reversed. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 551..

68



E. Cumulative Error Deprived Mr. Canete of his
Due Process Right to 2 Fair Trial,

The Court of Appeals may reverse a conviction when
“there have been several errors that standing alone may not be
sufficient to justify reversal but when combined may deny a

defendant a fair trial.” State v. Grieff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929,

10P.3d 390 (2000).

If the court is not satisfied that any of the previously
discussed errors alone warrant reversal, the combined effects of
the above errors denied Mr. Canete a fair trial. Therefore, Mr.
Canete’s convictions require reversal due to cumulative error.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the Court should reverse Mr.
Canete’s convictions and the case should be remanded for a new

frial.
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January 16, 2024

Via U.S. Mail
PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL ATTORNEY-CLIENT COMMUNICATION

Niceto Canete

Coyote Ridge Corrections Center
DOC No. 432163

P.O. Box 769

Connell, WA 99326

RE: Decision, Washiﬁgion Court of Appeals Division I, Case No. 84382-6

Dear Niceto:

I regret to inform you that the Court of Appeals has affirmed your conviction and
denied your appeal. T have enclosed a copy of the Court of Appeals opinion. We now have
20 days to file a motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals or 30 days to file a petition
for review in the Washington Supreme Court. If you do not take action in the allotted time,
then the Court of Appeals will issue its mandate terminating the direct appeal and you will not
be able to further pursue your claims on direct appeal in the Court of Appeals or the Supreme
Court.

Our representation agreement did not cover representation on a motion for
reconsideration in the Court of Appeals or representation on a petition for review in the
Supreme Court. We would be happy to continue to represent you, but will need to execute a
separate representation agreement if you decide to pursue one of these courses of action. If we
are not retained to represent you further we will not be taking any further action in the case.
Importantly, if you choose to take no action and a mandate is issued, you will have one year to
file a collateral attack. We will send you a copy of the mandate when we receive it.

We did everything we could to present your claims for relief in the Court of Appeals,
and I am sorry, again, to deliver the bad news. Please give me a call as soon as possible so that
we can discuss next steps. Thank you.

Sincerely yours,

BLACK & ASKEROV, PLLC

s/ Teymur Askerov

Teymur Askerov
Attorney at Law
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